
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

SELECT COMMITTEE - KNIFE CRIME IN KENT 
 
 

Monday, 17th June, 2019, at 10.00 am Ask for: 
 

Gaetano Romagnuolo 

Medway Room - Sessions House Telephone 
 

03000 416624 - 
gaetano.romagnuolo@
kent.gov.uk 

 
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting in the meeting room 
 
Membership  
 
Mr P V Barrington-King (Chairman), Mrs S Chandler, Mr I S Chittenden, Mr A Cook, 
Mr P C Cooper, Mr D Farrell, Mr A R Hills, Mr K Pugh and Mr A M Ridgers 
 

 
 

Please note:  that the unrestricted part of this meeting may be filmed by any member of the 
public or press present.   
  
By entering into this room you are consenting to being filmed.  If you do not wish to have 
your image captured please let the Clerk know immediately. 

 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 

1 
 

Apologies  
  

10:00 - 
10:45 
 

Allison Duggal (Deputy Director, Public Health, Kent County 
Council) (Pages 3 - 42) 
  

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Benjamin Watts 

General Counsel (Interim)   
03000 416814  
 
Friday, 7 June 2019 



This page is intentionally left blank



Kent County Council 
 

Knife Crime Select Committee 
 

Hearing Day 4 
 

Monday, 17 June 2019 
 

Witness Guide for Members 
 

Below are suggested themes and questions. They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman. 
 

 
Themes and Questions 

 
 
Allison Duggal, Deputy Director, Public Health, Kent County Council 
 
 

 Please introduce yourself and provide a brief outline of the roles and 
responsibilities that your post involve. 
 

 Please discuss the data and findings of the recent report produced by the 
Kent Public Health Observatory on injuries caused by sharp objects in 
Kent.    

 

 What does a Public Health approach to tackling violence involve? To what 
extent is this approach successful in addressing knife crime? 

 

 In your opinion, what are the most effective initiatives and strategies that 
can be implemented to tackle knife crime? 

 

 In your view, what else can Kent County Council do to help reduce the 
incidence and impact of knife crime in Kent?  

 

 Are there any other issues, with relevance to the review, that you wish to 
bring to the Committee’s attention? 

 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



1          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Public health 
approaches to 
reducing violence

Report
Page 5



2          Public health approaches to reducing violence

This review was undertaken by Chanon Consulting and Cordis Bright. The review protocol and 
evidence assessment approach were agreed with the Local Government Association (LGA) 
before the review was conducted.  

Please note that this is an evidence review and is not designed to be policy or practice 
guidance. However, it is hoped that this review could help to inform future guidance in  
this area.

Page 6



3          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Contents

1 Executive summary	 4

2 Introduction	 9 

3 What is a public health approach to reducing violence?	 11

4 What do public health approaches tell us about reducing violence?	 14

The scale of violence	 14

Understanding risk and protective factors	 17

5 Interventions which may reduce violence	 21

6 Appendix 1 – Review protocol and bibliography	 31

Page 7



Addressing violence is not a single agency issue, as it is the culmination of  many different 
issues. It is only by pursuing a strategic, coordinated approach involving a range of  agencies, 
including partnerships between statutory and voluntary organisations, that violent crime can  
be effectively addressed. 

As local leaders councils play a key role in reducing violence, bringing together partners 
through their strategic and operational role spanning enforcement, early intervention, 
prevention in relation to violent crime and provision of  support to victims of  violence. 

Although there are different ways to reduce violent behaviour, a public health approach  
is being  increasingly discussed, using an evidence-led methodology to reduce and  
prevent violence in communities.

This report provides an introduction to the subject, and asks three key questions:

	

What is a public health approach to reducing violence? 
The World Health Organisation (WHO) (2017a) defines a public health approach to reducing 
violence as one that:

‘Seeks to improve the health and safety of  all individuals by addressing underlying risk factors 
that increase the likelihood that an individual will become a victim or a perpetrator of  violence. 
By definition, public health aims to provide the maximum benefit for the largest number of  
people. Programmes for primary prevention of  violence based on the public health approach 
are designed to expose a broad segment of  a population to prevention measures and to 
reduce and prevent violence at a population-level.’

What is a public health approach to  
reducing violence?

Which public health interventions are  
promising in reducing violence?

What does a public health approach  
tell us about violence

1.	Executive summary

4          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 8



Public health approaches can be identified by the following characteristics:

•	 defining and monitoring the problem

•	 identifying causes of  the problem, the factors that increase or decrease the risk of  violence, 
and the factors that could be modified through interventions

•	 designing, implementing and evaluating interventions to find out what works

•	 implementing effective and promising interventions on a wider scale, while continuing to 
monitor their effects, impact and cost-effectiveness (WHO, 2017a).

This approach to reducing violence, and the literature around it, recognises the necessity both 
of  gaining an understanding of  violence through evidence and of  responding to the problem 
through carefully designed interventions. Robust evaluation of  those interventions feeds back 
into our understanding of  what works to reduce violence most effectively for the most amount 
of  people. 

The World Health Organisation (WHO) have summarised this approach in the diagram below.

                      

1. Surveillance

What is the problem?

Define the violence problem 
through systematic data 
collection.

2.	Identify risk and 	
protective factors

What are the causes?

Conduct research to find out 
why violence occurs and 
who it affects.

3.	Develop and evaluate 
interventions

What works and  
for whom?

Design, implement and 
evaluate interventions to  
see what works.

4.	Implementation

Scaling up effective 
policy and programmes

Scale-up effective and 
promising interventions  
and evaluate their impact 
and cost effectiveness.

	 Source: WHO, 2017

5          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 9



6          Public health approaches to reducing violence

What does a public health approach tell us about violence?
Public health approaches work by providing a framework which seeks to understand what 
causes violence and responding with interventions to prevent or reduce violence, at the 
population level, informed by the best available evidence. Public health approaches undertake 
robust research and analysis to identify risk and protective factors that are associated with 
violence. Definitions of  risk and protective factors are presented below.  

•	 Risk factors: are those which can usefully predict an increased likelihood of  violence. 
For example, communities with high levels of  unemployment may be at higher risk of  
experiencing increased levels of  violence. 

•	 Protective factors: are factors that reduce the likelihood of  violence. For example, 
communities with low levels of  unemployment may be at less risk of  experiencing  
high levels of  violence.  

Figure 1 provides a useful conceptualisation of  risk factors developed by the WHO (2017b).

As with the example of  ‘unemployment’ above, risk and protective factors can be 
conceptualised as being on different ends of  the same continuum. Thus in Figure 1, in the 
textbox relating to relationship, poor parenting is identified as a risk factor and at the other end 
of  the continuum,  good parenting may be a protective factor; marital discord a risk factor and 
marital harmony a protective factor, and so on.

Figure 1 The ecological framework with examples of risk factors for violence at each level

Rapid social change

Gender, social and  
economic inequality

Poverty

Weak economic safety nets

Poor rule of  law

Cultural norms that  
support violence

Poverty

High crime levels

High resiential mobility

High unemployment

Local illicit drug trade

Situational factors

Victim of  child abuse

Psychological/
personality disorder

Alcohol/substance 
abuse

History of  violent 
behaviour

Poor parenting

Marital discord

Violent parental conflict

Low socioeconomic 
household status

Friends that engage  
in violence

Societal

Community

Relationship

Individual

Adapted from WHO (2017b)

Page 10



7          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Research (WHO, 2002) has shown that there 
are a wide range of  risk and protective 
factors associated with violence. It should 
be noted that they are not necessarily direct 
causes in themselves:

‘A major problem of the risk factor paradigm  
is to determine which risk factors are causes 
and which are merely markers or correlated 
with causes.’ 
Farrington (2000) 

More about risk and protective factors and 
how they interplay to impact on violence  
an be found in Section 4. 

Which public health approaches are 
promising in reducing violence?
The public health approach outlined above, 
provides a useful framework for taking 
an evidenced-led approach to violence 
reduction. As well as approaches to 
generating evidence concerning the  
causes of  violence in populations,  
a public health approach can also  
deploy a range of  interventions aimed  
at reducing violence at the population level.

The following interventions have all been 
identified in this review as having evidence  
at level 3 on the Standards of Evidence scale 
used in this review, ie there is good evidence  
that they may work in reducing violence  
(see Section 2). More information about  
each intervention is presented in Section 5.

Interventions aimed at supporting 
parents and families
•	 The Family Nurse Partnership 

•	 Incredible Years Preschool 

•	 Family Foundations 

•	 Triple P 

•	 Empowering Parents  
Empowering Communities  
 
 

 

Developing life skills in children  
and young people
•	 The Good Behaviour Game 

•	 Incredible Years Child Training  
(Dinosaur School) 

•	 Incredible Years Teacher Classroom 
Management 

•	 Promoting Alternative Thinking  
Strategies (PATHS)

•	 Let’s Play in Tandem 

Working with high-risk youth and 
gangs/community interventions
•	 Community Initiative to  

Reduce Violence (CIRV) 

Identification, care and support
•	 Identification and referral to improve  

safety (IRIS) 

Multi-component interventions
•	 Multisystemic therapy 

•	 Sure Start local programmes

In addition, this review reports on evidence 
concerning the positive impact of  the  
Cardiff  Model (Level 3 on the standards 
of  evidence scale used in this report) 
concerning data, information, and  
intelligence sharing from emergency 
departments to other strategic partners  
can have on reducing violence. More  
about this is discussed in Section 4.

Considerations 
This review finds that public health 
approaches and associated evidence- 
based interventions have significant merit  
in delivering improved outcomes for  
children, adults and communities concerning 
reductions in violence. The review also  
shows that there is consensus around the 
core elements (summarised in Figure 1  
above) of  a public health approach to 
reducing violence.

Page 11



When considering public health approaches and 
the implementation of interventions to reduce 
violence, you should consider the following:

1. Surveillance. What is the problem?
•	 Define the issue. This includes conducting 

a robust needs assessment concerning 
violence, including types of  violence as 
well as gaining a clear understanding 
of  risk and protective factors that can 
be targeted in individuals, families, 
communities and populations to address 
and reduce violence at a population level. 

2. Identify risk and protective factors.  
What are the causes?
•	 Understand the causes of violence.  

This includes taking an evidence-led 
approach to understanding which risk  
and/or protective factors cause the  
violence issue and how they interplay. 
Through achieving this understanding,  
local areas are more likely to be successful 
in implementing public health interventions 
that effectively moderate and address  
risk factors and strengthen protective 
factors, ultimately reducing violence  
at a population level.

3. Develop and identify interventions.  
What works for whom?
•	 Develop an anti-violence or reducing 

violence strategy. Critically, this strategy 
should respond to identified need in the 
population under consideration and focus 
on addressing the causes of  violence. The 
strategy should be developed and agreed 
between stakeholders and be Specific, 
Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and 
Timebound. The strategy should link to 
the wider strategic and policy context and 
include collaborative and co-productive 
development with local partners, including 
the local community, which should ensure 
local ownership of  the strategy and help to 
ensure that it is implemented as intended.

•	 Commission and fund evidence-based 
interventions that have been shown to 
reduce violence. Where possible, local 
areas should consider commissioning and 
funding evidence-based interventions that 
have been shown to reduce violence. 

•	 Don’t be afraid to innovate. If  there are no 
‘off-the-shelf’ evidence based interventions 
available, then interventions should 
be developed on the basis of  existing 
evidence for what works in modifying risk 
and protective factors for the particular 
kinds of  violence problem that the area  
is aiming to address.

4. Implementation. Scaling up effective 
programmes and interventions
•	 Implement interventions ensuring that 

fidelity is maintained in line with what 
has been demonstrated to work.  
Model fidelity means ensuring that the 
model implemented stays loyal and 
is delivered as closely to the original 
model as possible. This requires careful 
consideration when taking into account 
the context into which the intervention 
is being rolled-out. Not ensuring model 
fidelity is one of  the key reasons why the 
implementation of  interventions that have 
been evidenced to work in one area do  
not work in another. 

•	 The implementation of interventions 
takes time to embed in practice and 
to achieve outcomes. Local decision-
makers need to provide sufficient time for 
programmes and interventions to impact on 
desired outcomes. It can sometimes take 
over five years for programmes to achieve 
outcomes.

•	 Evaluate and monitor the success of 
public health interventions. This review 
shows that there is still work to be done in 
developing and evaluating public health 
interventions aimed at reducing violence  
at a population level. Although resources 
are often tight, you should aim to  
contribute to the evidence base by 
ensuring robust evaluation (in line with 
recognised evidence standards scales 
similar to the scale used in this report) 
of  public health interventions that are 
commissioned and funded. 

Robust evaluation can save money by 
clearly identifying models and practice that 
work, but also showing what does not work. 
Knowing this can save money and use scarce 
resources more effectively in the long-term.

8          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 12



Addressing violence is not a single agency issue, as it is the culmination of  many different 
issues. It is only by pursuing a strategic, coordinated approach involving a range of  agencies, 
including partnerships between statutory and voluntary organisations, that violent crime can  
be effectively addressed. 

As local leaders councils play a key role in reducing violence, bringing together partners 
through their strategic and operational role spanning enforcement, early intervention, 
prevention in relation to violent crime and provision of  support to victims of  violence. 

Although there are different ways to reduce violent behaviour, a public health approach  
is being increasingly discussed, using an evidence-led methodology to reduce and  
prevent violence in communities.

This report is an introduction to the subject, and provides:

•	 a summary of  the evidence for public health approaches to reducing violence

•	 an overview of  the evidence base for interventions that are working, or have promise,  
in the UK context

•	 key things to consider when thinking about utilising public health approaches and 
interventions to reduce violence.

In particular, this review provides answers to the following key questions:

What is a public health approach to  
reducing violence?

Which public health interventions are  
promising in reducing violence?

What does a public health approach  
tell us about violence

2.	Introduction

9          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 13



2.1	 Standards of evidence 

To help guide decision-making concerning the robustness of  the evidence base,  
the interventions to reduce violence that are included in this review have been  
assessed according to the to the evidence scale in Figure 2. 

Figure 2 Standards of  Evidence Scale

Level Description 

Level 1 Programmes/Interventions have a clear theory of  change/
logic model in terms of  how they aim to impact on outcomes. 
However, there may not yet be clear evidence that they are 
achieving this impact.

Level 2 Programmes/Interventions at this level meet level 1 criteria 
plus evidence indicating observed impact on desired 
outcomes. This could include a pre- post- measure on 
outcomes. A robust comparison group or equivalent is  
not essential for level 2.

Level 3 Programmes/Interventions at this level meet level 1 criteria 
and include evaluations that clearly demonstrate observed 
on its desired outcomes. It is necessary at this level to clearly 
demonstrate that any positive outcomes achieved were likely 
to have resulted from the programme/intervention and as 
such require comparison with a well-matched control group 
or equivalent.

Interventions that meet the standards of  level 3 and above have been included in the review 
and are summarised  in Section 5. As a result of  applying this criteria, it may be that some 
emerging good practice, or interventions that do work, but which have not been robustly 
evaluated are not included in this review. 

10          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 14



3. What is a public health 		
	 approach to reducing  
	 violence?
Definitions 

1	 http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/definition/en/. Accessed 24 Nov. 2017 
2	 http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/public_health/en/. Accessed 24 Nov. 2017

There are a number of  ways of  defining violence and also public health approaches to 
reducing violence. In this review the following World Health Organization (WHO) definitions  
are used:

Violence: In accordance with the World Health Organization’s Violence Prevention Alliance1,  
we defined ‘violence’ as ’the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, 
against oneself, another person, or against a group or community, that either results in or has a 
high likelihood of resulting in injury, death, psychological harm, maldevelopment, or deprivation’. 
This includes neglect, physical, sexual and psychological violence, and can be interpersonal 
(towards a family member, partner, acquaintance or stranger), self-directed, or committed by 
larger groups such as nation states and terrorist organisations (WHO 2017c). 

Public health approaches to reducing violence: We defined public health approaches as 
approaches that seek to improve the health and safety of  all individuals by addressing  
underlying risk factors that increase the likelihood that an individual will become a victim or 
perpetrator of  violence. By definition, public health aims to provide the maximum benefit for 
the largest number of people. Programmes for primary prevention of violence based on the 
public health approach are designed to expose a broad segment of  a population to prevention 
measures and to reduce and prevent violence at a population-level (WHO 2017a). 

More details about public health approaches are outlined below. 

sdsad1

A public health approach to reducing violence 
Public health provides a useful framework for understanding and preventing violence.  
The public health approach uses evidence on the nature and underlying causes of  a  
problem to target interventions to address it. The World Health Organization’s Violence 
Prevention Alliance2  summarises the four key steps of  the public health approach to  
reducing violence as follows:

1.	defining and monitoring the problem

2.	identifying causes of  the problem, the factors that increase or decrease the risk of   
violence, and the factors that could be modified through interventions

3.	designing, implementing and evaluating interventions to find out what works

4.	implementing effective and promising interventions on a wider scale, while continuing  
to monitor their effects, impact and cost-effectiveness.

11          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 15

http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/definition/en/
http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/public_health/en/


Figure 3 Summary of  steps of  the public health approach

                      

1. Surveillance

What is the problem?

Define the violence problem 
through systematic data 
collection.

2.	Identify risk and 	
protective factors

What are the causes?

Conduct research to find out 
why violence occurs and 
who it affects.

3.	Develop and evaluate 
interventions

What works and  
for whom?

Design, implement and 
evaluate interventions to  
see what works.

4.	Implementation

Scaling up effective 
policy and programmes

Scale-up effective and 
promising interventions  
and evaluate their impact 
and cost effectiveness.

	 Source: WHO, 2017a

Public health interventions operate through modifying the risk factors that make an  
individual, family or community vulnerable to violence (as victims, perpetrators, or both)  
and by promoting protective factors. An overview of  identified risk factors for violence  
identified is presented in Section 4. 

Types of public health interventions to violence prevention/reduction
Central to an effective public health approach to reducing violence is the implementation 
of  interventions that successfully address risk and protective factors in individuals, families, 
communities and populations to reduce violence at a community and/or population level. 
However, in the literature reviewed, definitions varied and there was no clear consensus or 
definition as to what constitutes a public health intervention to reduce violence, apart from  
that it should reduce violence at the community and/or population level.

Conaglen and Gallimore (2014, p.15) describe violence prevention interventions as operating 
on various levels (primary, secondary or tertiary) and define interventions to address violence 
as universal, selected or indicated.

 

12          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 16



Levels of violence prevention

Primary – preventing violence before it happens, ie to reduce the number of new cases of  
violence in the population.

Secondary – immediate responses to incidents of violence to decrease prevalence after early 
signs of the problem, ie to reduce the prevalence of violence in the population.

Tertiary – to intervene once the violence problem is evident and causing harm. 

Types of intervention to address violence
Universal – aimed at a general population

Targeted selected – targeted at those more at risk

Targeted indicated – targeted at those who use violence

While the WHO, Bellis et al. (2012) and others provide clear definitions of  public health 
approaches, there is less clarity in the literature about what kinds of  interventions fall within 
the scope of  a public health approach. This is complicated by the fact that the position of  an 
intervention in the matrix (ie primary, secondary, tertiary, universal, targeted selected, targeted 
indicated) is rarely explicit. However, public health interventions, like public health approaches 
should seek to reduce violence at a community and/or population level.

Signposting
To find out more take a look at the three key reviews below concerning overviews of  public 
health research around violence in the UK (including Scotland).

Title Description Citation

Review of evidence for 
prevention; series includes:

- Child maltreatment

- Sexual violence

- Self-harm and suicide

- Intimate partner violence

- Elder abuse

- Youth violence

www.cph.org.uk/publications

A series of reviews of UK and 
international evidence for the 
prevention of injury and violence, 
published by the UK focal point 
for violence and injury prevention 
(led by Mark Bellis) as part of  
the WHO’s global programme to 
support and develop violence  
and injury prevention work.

Wood et al., 2010a-f

Promoting Health: A public 
health approach to violence 
prevention in England

A report by Mark Bellis and 
colleagues for the Department of  
Health and Social Care, reviewing 
evidence for a public heath 
approach to preventing violence 
in England for policy makers and 
commissioners.

Bellis et al., 2012

Violence Prevention:  
A public health priority

A report by the Scottish Public 
Health Network (ScotPHN) on 
public health approaches to 
reducing violence commissioned 
by the Scottish Directors of   
Public Health.

Conaglen and  
Gallimore, 2014

13          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 17

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/child-maltreatment.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/sexual-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/self-harm-and-suicide-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/intimate-partner-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/elder-abuse-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/youth-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/publications
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216977/Violence-prevention.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216977/Violence-prevention.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216977/Violence-prevention.pdf
https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Report-Violence-Prevention-A-Public-Health-Priority-December-2014.pdf
https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Report-Violence-Prevention-A-Public-Health-Priority-December-2014.pdf


Research, evaluation and taking an evidence-
led approach are key to a public health 
approach to reducing violence. By gathering 
information on the scale and nature of  the 
violence problem, and identifying the risk and 
protective factors that make an individual or 
population vulnerable to violence, effective 
interventions can be designed and targeted 
to tackle the problem with maximum effect 
(WHO, 2017a).

•	 The scale of violence below presents an 
overview of  the violence problem in the UK  
and evidence for the effective use of  the 
public health approach, using data to 
target violence prevention. 

•	 Understanding risk and protective 
factors explores the idea of  risk and 
protective factors, summarising what  
public health approaches tell us about  
the causes of  different forms of  violence.

The scale of violence
The importance of using a range  
of data-sources to understand the  
scale of violence 
Comprehensive data on violence in the 
population can help us to measure trends in 
violence and identify at-risk population groups 
and communities. Police data and national 
surveys are useful, but should be combined 
with data from other sources in a public health 
approach, to gain a local-level understanding 
of  the impact of  violence on the population, 
which groups and communities are most at 
risk, what types of  interventions are needed, 
and how effective those interventions are at 
preventing violence (Bellis et al., 2012).

Official crime statistics are vulnerable to 
under-reporting and other pitfalls (Shepherd, 
2007), but data from other sources can 
mitigate these limitations. Alternative sources 

of  information on violence include emergency 
department and hospital admissions data, 
data from helplines like Childline, social 
services data (eg the number of  children  
on child protection plans) and workplace  
data including violence against NHS staff  
(Bellis et al., 2012). 

Hospital emergency departments deal with 
violent incidents that are serious enough to 
result in hospital attendance, but that still may 
not be reported to the police. Healthcare data 
on injuries from violence in 2016 suggest that 
rates of  serious violence may be decreasing 
among adults, but that violence in which 
children under 11 were injured has increased 
compared to the previous year (Sivarasingam 
et al., 2016). 

Some forms of  violence are more visible  
to these agencies than others, and while  
a multi-faceted approach to information 
gathering can provide a fuller picture than 
crime data alone, there are some areas 
that remain largely hidden from view. These 
include forced marriage, human trafficking 
and female genital mutilation, as well as 
sexual violence more generally, and the 
abuse of  especially vulnerable older adults 
such as those with severe dementia and 
those living in communal establishments 
(Bellis et al., 2012).

The scale of violent crime
Official crime data can provide some insights 
into long-term trends in violence. Over a million 
incidents of violent crime are estimated to occur  
in the UK every year, and in many cases rates are 
on the rise. 

The main official sources are police records and 
the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW). 

 4. What do public health  
	 approaches tell us about 	
	 reducing violence?

14          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 18



Police records include more detail than the CSEW, providing local as well as national figures 
and breaking violent offences down into more categories than the CSEW. However, police data 
is restricted to incidents reported to the police, and are vulnerable to changes in recording 
practices, particularly recent changes to recording processes. The CSEW provides estimated 
figures for crime, which can be unreliable for spotting trends in low-volume crimes. For this 
reason, police data tends to provide a better measure of  more serious, low volume crime  
(such as homicide), while the CSEW tends to record higher numbers of  less harmful crimes 
and provide evidence of  higher-level trends (ONS, 2017).

Figure 3 shows that CSEW estimate more than 1.2 million incidents of  violent crime in 2016/17, 
which is not significantly different from the previous year’s figure (ONS, 2017). The Violence 
and Society Research Group at Cardiff  University also identified no significant change in 
violence prevalence in 2016, based on hospital emergency departments and walk-in centre 
records in England and Wales (Sivarajasingam et al., 2016).

Figure 3 Key CSEW estimates for 2016/17

Incidents
Victims  
(% of  population)

Source

Violent crime against 
adults (over 16 years)

1,241,000 771,000 (1.7%) Incidents: Table 1a, 
CSEW bulletin tables

Prevalence: Table 1b, 
CSEW bulletin tables

Violent crime against 
10-to-15-year olds3 

359,000 208,000 (5.4%) Table F22, CSEW 
bulletin tables 

However, CSEW estimates do show a cumulative downward trend over the last several years, 
shown in Figure 4 in which the 2016/17 estimate represents a 25 per cent decrease since 
2013/14. However, CSEW estimates do show a cumulative downward trend over the last 
several years, shown in Figure 4 in which the 2016/17 estimate represents a 25 per cent 
decrease since 2013/14. footnote3

Figure 4 Trends in CSEW violence estimates 1981-2017 

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

Year ending
Dec-81 Dec-97

Number of incidents (thousands)

Violence with injury

Dec-06 Dec-12 Year end June 2017

Violence Violence without injury

    Source: ONS, 2017

3	  Some estimates are from small samples, so caution should be applied when interpreting this data.

15          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 19

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/crimeinenglandandwalesbulletintables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/crimeinenglandandwalesbulletintables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/crimeinenglandandwalesbulletintables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/crimeinenglandandwalesbulletintables


Police records reported a 19 per cent overall increase in violent crime in 2016/17,  
which may reflect genuine rises in specific types of  crime that are not covered by  
the CSEW, but is largely attributable to improved recording practices (ONS, 2017).

The scale of different types of violence
Public health approaches can be used to address specific types of  violence. The following 
provides examples of  evidence for the scale of  certain types of  violence:

•	 Domestic abuse. Domestic abuse recorded by police has risen 18 per cent in 2016/17, 
but this is vulnerable to varied practice in ‘flagging’, and the increase is likely to be driven 
by improved identification and recording. CSEW estimates showed no increase in domestic 
abuse against 16-59 year olds (ONS, 2017).

•	 Sexual offences. The CSEW records only low numbers for sexual offences, but police 
data shows a trend of  year-on-year increase since 2011/12, currently at the highest levels 
since national recording standards were introduced in 2002. Over a third of  the increase 
in 2016/17 was due to rises in rates of  sexual offences against children. Rises in recorded 
sexual offences may be partially due to improvements in police recording and also to 
increased reporting, as high-profile coverage of  sexual violence cases and police operations 
(such as Operation Yewtree) may encourage victims to come forward (ONS, 2017).

•	 Knife crime. The volume of  police-recorded knife crime also continued to rise in 2016/17, 
reaching a peak since 2010/11. Rates rose compared to the previous year in all categories 
except homicide, ie attempted murder, threats to kill, robbery, rape, sexual assault and 
assault with injury and assault with intent to cause serious harm. The largest rise was in 
London (accounting for 47 per cent of  the England and Wales increase), but 38 out of  
44 police forces recorded an overall rise in knife crime, suggesting that this is a national 
problem. A breakdown for each police force is available in the Home Office’s open data 
table for knife crime4 (Home Office, 2017).

Figure 4 provides a summary of  the volume of  examples of  key police-recorded crime 
figures for 2016/17 alongside a percentage change figure from 2015/16. This shows that 
across all these categories there has been a rise in violent crime.

4	 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/police-recorded-crime-open-data-tables

Figure 2 Standards of  Evidence Scale

Category Volume 2016/17 Change from 2015/16

Domestic abuse 511,319 + 18%

Sexual offences 129,700 + 19%

    Rape 45,100 + 22%

    Other 84,600 + 17%

Crimes involving a knife or sharp 
instrument

36,998 + 26%

    Assault with injury and assault with  
    intent to cause serious harm

18,528 + 19%

Robbery 14,429 + 37%

16          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 20

http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/child-parent-psychotherapy


The cost of violence
Violence comes at a great cost, both to those involved and to society. Victims, their families, 
and people exposed to violence suffer physical, mental, emotional, social and economic 
consequences, in the short and long term. Groups that are vulnerable to violence can suffer 
reduced economic participation, social wellbeing and health, compared to other groups, 
leading to worse outcomes for individuals and worsening inequality across the whole of  
society (Bellis et al., 2012).

The economic costs of  violence and abuse affect victims and their families, public services, 
businesses, communities, and wider society. Estimates vary, depending on the methodology 
used and to what extent figures are adjusted for underreporting, but it is clear that violent crime 
costs the public sector several billions of  pounds a year. In terms of  cost to the NHS, violence, 
estimated at a cost of  £2.9 billion, is considered equivalent to other major public health issues 
including alcohol and tobacco (see Figure 5; Bellis et al., 2012). Tackling violence with a well-
evidenced approach can not only improve public health and social and economic wellbeing, 
but will generate substantial savings to the NHS, the criminal justice system and other  
public services.

Figure 5  Annual costs of selected public health issues to the NHS, 2011/12

£ 
bi

lli
on

s

5

4

3

2

1

0

Vi
ol

en
ce

P
hy

si
ca

l
in

ac
tiv

ity

S
m

ok
in

g

A
lc

oh
ol

O
ve

rw
ei

gh
t

an
d 

ob
es

ity

                         Source: Bellis et al., 2012, p. 25

Understanding risk and protective factors
Public health approaches work by providing a framework which seeks to understand what 
causes violence and responding with interventions to prevent or reduce violence, at the 
population level, informed by the best available evidence. Public health approaches  
undertake robust research and analysis to identify risk and protective factors that are 
associated with violence. Definitions of  risk and protective factors are presented below. 

•	 Risk factors: are those which can usefully predict an increased likelihood of  violence. 
For example, communities with high levels of  unemployment may be at higher risk of  
experiencing increased levels of  violence.

17          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 21



18          Public health approaches to reducing violence

•	 Protective factors: are factors that reduce the likelihood of  violence. For example, 
communities with low levels of  unemployment may be at less risk of  experiencing high levels 
of  violence.

Figure 6  The ecological framework with examples of risk factors for violence at each level

Rapid social change

Gender, social and  
economic inequality

Poverty

Weak economic safety nets

Poor rule of  law

Cultural norms that  
support violence

Poverty

High crime levels

High resiential mobility

High unemployment

Local illicit drug trade

Situational factors

Victim of  child abuse

Psychological/
personality disorder

Alcohol/substance 
abuse

History of  violent 
behaviour

Poor parenting

Marital discord

Violent parental conflict

Low socioeconomic 
household status

Friends that engage  
in violence

Societal

Community

Relationship

Individual

Adapted from WHO (2017b)

Research (WHO, 2002) has shown that there are a wide range of  risk and protective factors 
associated with violence. It should be noted that risk and protective factors are not necessarily 
direct causes in themselves:

‘A major problem of the risk factor paradigm is to determine which risk factors are causes and 
which are merely markers or correlated with causes.’ 
Farrington (2000) 

Risk and protective factors can interplay in a variety of  ways in terms of  predicting violence. 
For instance, risk and protective factors can interact together in terms of:

•	 Threshold effects: The presence of  two risk factors may not be predictive of  an individual’s 
behaviour or performance but the operation and presence of  an additional risk factor,  
or more, alongside the two risk factors may be predictive of  an individual’s outcomes 
(Sameroff  et al., 1987). 

•	 Additive/cumulative effects: Risk factors may operate cumulatively or additively to  
signal outcomes. 

Page 22



19          Public health approaches to reducing violence

•	 Interaction effects: Interaction effects occur when the influence or signalling power of  
a risk factor on offending is dependent on the level and presence (or strength) of  another 
risk factor.

Risk factors – Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)
One public health approach to conceptualising risk factors is the Adverse Childhood 
Experiences study. For example, the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) study in the 
USA has shown that experiences like child maltreatment or witnessing domestic violence can 
lead to higher levels of  interpersonal violence and self-directed violence, in adolescence and 
adulthood (Duke et al., 2010; Whitfield et al., 2003). The risk factors are cumulative, so the risk 
of  all forms of  violence increases. Examples of  ACEs are outlined below (WHO, 2012):

•	 Emotional, physical or sexual abuse

•	 Emotional or physical neglect

•	 Violence against household members

•	 Living with household members who were substance abusers,  
mentally ill, suicidal or imprisoned

•	 Having one or no parents, or experiencing parental separation or divorce

•	 Bullying or exposure to community or collective violence

Areas of  the UK are increasingly interested in this approach. For instance, the Welsh 
Government has recently provided funding to help Cymru Well Wales to set up a hub to tackle 
the negative impact of  Adverse Childhood Experiences, see: http://gov.wales/newsroom/
people-and-communities/2017/170119-adverse-childhood-experiences/?lang=en

Other risk factors that increase an individual’s likelihood of  becoming a perpetrator or victim 
of  violence (or both) include deprivation and social inequality, disability, psychiatric disorder 
(especially personality disorder), alcohol and drug use, violent peers and gang membership, 
and exposure to cultural and social norms that support violence (Bellis et al., 2012).

Risk factors for particular forms of violence
Public health programmes aiming to reduce a particular form of  violence can be targeted 
to particularly relevant risk or protective factors. The diagram below summarises examples 
of  risk factors identified for different forms of  violence in the UK (Figure adapted from Bellis 
et al., 2012). There are likely to be other risk factors and also protective factors that may be 
associated with these types of  violence, as the table does not provide an exhaustive list of   
risk factors. It also does not provide evidence of  the strength of  association between risk  
factor and violence (ie a measure of  how strongly linked the risk factor is with violence).

Page 23

https://gov.wales/newsroom/people-and-communities/2017/170119-adverse-childhood-experiences/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/newsroom/people-and-communities/2017/170119-adverse-childhood-experiences/?lang=en


20          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Child abuse risk factors Youth violence risk factors

•	 Unplanned pregnancy

•	 Single parent household

•	 Young, poor parents

•	 Socially isolated parents

•	 Parental alcohol consumption  
and drug use

•	 Domestic violence in the home

•	 Child disability or illness

•	 Child behavioural problems

•	 Male gender

•	 Neglect and abuse in childhood

•	 Personality traits, eg hyperactivity/ 
conduct disorder

•	 Poor family functioning

•	 Domestic violence in the home

•	 Delinquent peers and gang involvement

•	 Living in a high crime area

•	 Alcohol consumption

•	 Social inequality

Intimate partner and sexual  
violence risk factors

Risk factors for elder abuse

•	 Female gender

•	 Younger age

•	 Lower household income

•	 Being single, co-habiting,  
separated or divorced

•	 Living in areas of  high physical disorder

•	 Alcohol consumption  
(perpetrators and victims)

•	 Controlling and jealous partner

•	 Childhood abuse (perpetrators and victims)

•	 Gender inequality

•	 Cultural norms tolerant of  violence

•	 High levels of  dependence

•	 Mental and cognitive disorders

•	 Carer alcohol consumption and drug use

•	 Carer financial problems

•	 Carer burnout

•	 Social isolation

•	 Lack of  social support

•	 Age discrimination

Signposting
For more information about risk and protective factors for violence take a look at the resources 
provided by the following organisations:

Early Intervention Foundation 
Preventing Gang and Youth Violence: Spotting Signals of  Risk and Supporting Children  
and Young People: www.eif.org.uk/publication/preventing-gang-and-youth-violence

National Policing Improvement Agency 
Factors associated with serious or persistent offending. Findings from a Rapid Evidence 
Assessment: http://whatworks.college.police.uk/Research/Documents/REA_violent_reoffending.pdf

Page 24

http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/preventing-gang-and-youth-violence
http://whatworks.college.police.uk/Research/Documents/REA_violent_reoffending.pdf


21          Public health approaches to reducing violence

5.	Interventions which  
may reduce violence

This section presents UK public health interventions that have been informed by the approach 
to the evidence base discussed in Section 4. 

Many of  the interventions covered in this review were shown to modify risk and protective 
factors for multiple different kinds of  violence, and some were shown to reduce violence itself. 

Sharing information – The Cardiff  Model 
There is good evidence that the public health approach to gathering and using data on violence 
can contribute to efforts to reduce violence at the population level. As discussed in Section 4, 
emergency department and hospital admissions data can give a more accurate picture of some 
kinds of violence than police records alone. By developing systems for specifically and consistently 
collecting the most useful kinds of data, and for sharing it effectively between relevant agencies, 
interventions can be designed and targeted to maximise their impact.

The best-evidenced system for data collection and sharing that has been implemented in the UK 
is the Cardiff  model. More than one rigorous evaluation of the Cardiff  model has demonstrated an 
effect on rates of violence, reaching level 3 on the standards of evidence scale (see Section 2).

Sharing information: The Cardiff model
In the Cardiff model, developed in the UK, reception staff in emergency departments collect data 
about violent incidents from patients presenting with assault-related injuries, including location, 
time and day, and weapon used. The data is anonymised, analysed and combined with police 
intelligence, and shared with a group of representatives from many agencies such as local 
government, police, licensing regulators, licensed businesses, ambulance services and mental 
health support services.

The data is used to predict, prevent and prepare for violence across the local area. They can  
inform local prevention strategies, such as increased policing at peak times, the enforcement  
of licensing regulations, training for bar staff, and the use of plastic glasses in assault hotspots  
(Quigg et al., 2012; Florence et al., 2011). Calendar patterns can help agencies prepare for spikes 
in violence around certain days, and can contribute to public health strategy in the long term, 
through improving our understanding of the nature and causes of violence in different populations.

Researchers have found good evidence that the Cardiff model can reduce violence at a population 
level. In Cardiff, hospital admissions following roll-out were substantially and significantly reduced, 
while rates of woundings rose more slowly than in comparison cities (Florence et al., 2011).  
In Wirral, the model was associated with decreased emergency department attendances  
related to intentional injury (assault) and alcohol-related injury (including assault and deliberate  
self-harm; Quigg et al., 2012). 

In Wirral the proportion of assault attendances that were admitted to hospital decreased (Quigg 
et al., 2012), and in Cardiff  the relative decrease in woundings corresponded with an increase in 
less serious assaults recorded by the police (Florence et al., 2011). These findings suggest that 
prevention efforts within the Cardiff model may reduce the severity of violent incidents or prevent 
them from escalating, as well as reducing overall assault rates.

Page 25



22          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Other evidenced interventions that meet level 3 on the 
standards of evidence scale
Evidence for specific interventions that have been rolled out in the UK is summarised in Figure 
7. Interventions are arranged according to the approach they take, eg supporting parents and 
families. Multi-component interventions are grouped at the bottom of  the table. 

This summary presents the best evidence from interventions rolled out in the UK, reaching level 
3 on the scale for standards of  evidence. Not included in the table are evidence from outside 
the UK and interventions that are promising but not yet well-evidenced. Some of  these are 
described in more detail in the reviews listed on page 13.

Page 26



23          Public health approaches to reducing violence

F
ig

u
re

 7
  
E

vi
d

e
n

c
e
 f

o
r 

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o

n
s 

th
at

 c
a
n

 b
e
 c

o
n

si
d

e
re

d
 t

o
 b

e
  

p
u

b
lic

 h
e

a
lt

h
 in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

to
 r

e
d

u
c
e
 v

io
le

n
c
e

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

Fa
m

ily
 N

ur
se

 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip

ht
tp

://
g

ui
d

eb
oo

k.
ei

f.o
rg

.u
k/

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e/
fa

m
ily

-n
ur

se
-

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

S
up

p
or

t f
or

 y
ou

ng
, 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 fi

rs
t-

tim
e 

m
ot

he
rs

 fr
om

 e
ar

ly
 

p
re

g
na

nc
y 

to
 c

hi
ld

’s
 

se
co

nd
 b

ir
th

d
ay

. M
ot

he
rs

 
le

ar
n 

p
ar

en
tin

g
 s

ki
lls

, 
le

ar
n 

ab
ou

t t
he

ir 
ch

ild
’s

 
he

al
th

 a
nd

 r
ec

ei
ve

 
su

p
p

or
t f

or
 th

ei
r 

 
ow

n 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

. 

  A
t h

om
e.

64
 x

 6
0-

90
m

in
 

se
ss

io
ns

In
d

iv
id

ua
l 

se
ss

io
ns

 N
ur

se
 o

r 
m

id
w

ife

G
oo

d
 e

vi
d

en
ce

 fo
r 

re
d

uc
ed

 v
io

le
nc

e 
an

d
 r

el
at

ed
 

ou
tc

om
es

 in
 th

e 
lo

ng
 te

rm
 fr

om
 r

ec
en

t f
ol

lo
w

-
up

s 
to

 r
an

d
om

is
ed

 c
on

tr
ol

le
d

 tr
ia

ls
 (

R
C

Ts
),

  
an

d
 in

 th
e 

sh
or

t t
er

m
 fr

om
 th

e 
ea

rli
er

 s
tu

d
ie

s.

E
vi

d
en

ce
 th

at
 in

tim
at

e 
p

ar
tn

er
 v

io
le

nc
e 

d
ur

in
g

 
p

re
g

na
nc

y 
an

d
 th

e 
fir

st
 tw

o 
ye

ar
s 

of
 th

e 
ch

ild
’s

 
lif

e 
w

as
 r

ed
uc

ed
 (

M
ej

d
ou

b
i e

t a
l.,

 2
01

3)
.

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
re

d
uc

ed
 c

hi
ld

 a
b

us
e,

 n
eg

le
ct

, 
p

un
is

hm
en

t a
nd

 e
m

er
g

en
cy

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

ad
m

is
si

on
s 

d
ur

in
g

 th
e 

ch
ild

’s
 fi

rs
t y

ea
r o

f 
lif

e 
(O

ld
s 

et
 a

l.,
 1

98
6)

.

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
re

d
uc

ed
 a

d
ol

es
ce

nt
 a

nt
is

oc
ia

l 
b

eh
av

io
ur

s 
(a

rr
es

ts
, c

on
vi

ct
io

ns
, b

eh
av

io
ur

al
 

p
ro

b
le

m
s)

 in
 a

 fo
llo

w
-u

p
 a

t a
g

e 
19

 (
E

ck
en

ro
d

e 
 

et
 a

l.,
 2

01
0)

.

U
ni

t c
os

t >
 

£2
,0

00

S
av

in
g

s 
of

 
$2

.8
8 

fo
r 

ev
er

y 
$1

 in
ve

st
ed

 in
 

th
e 

U
S

A

Page 27

http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/family-nurse-partnership
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/family-nurse-partnership
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/family-nurse-partnership
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/family-nurse-partnership
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/family-nurse-partnership
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/family-nurse-partnership
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/family-nurse-partnership


24          Public health approaches to reducing violence

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

Tr
ip

le
 P

w
w

w
.tr

ip
le

p.
ne

t

A
 p

ar
en

tin
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
of

fe
rin

g
 d

iff
er

en
t 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
su

p
p

or
t, 

fr
om

 
le

ve
l o

ne
 (

p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n)
 to

 le
ve

l 
fiv

e 
(a

d
d

re
ss

in
g

 s
ev

er
e 

ch
ild

ho
od

 p
ro

b
le

m
s)

. 
It 

ai
m

s 
to

 c
re

at
e 

st
ab

le
 

an
d

 s
up

p
or

tiv
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 
eq

ui
p

p
ed

 to
 d

ea
l w

ith
 

fa
m

ily
 p

ro
b

le
m

s 
 

in
cl

ud
in

g
 p

ro
b

le
m

at
ic

 
ch

ild
 b

eh
av

io
ur

.

 O
nl

in
e 

or
 in

 
an

y 
su

ita
b

le
 

lo
ca

tio
n

D
iff

er
en

t l
ev

el
s 

an
d

 fo
rm

at
s 

av
ai

la
b

le

 M
or

e 
in

te
ns

iv
e 

le
ve

ls
 

g
en

er
al

ly
 

d
el

iv
er

ed
 

b
y 

he
al

th
 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls

M
an

y 
R

C
Ts

 h
av

e 
fo

un
d

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 th

at
 T

rip
le

 P
 

ca
n 

im
p

ro
ve

 o
ut

co
m

es
 fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
w

ho
 ta

ke
 

p
ar

t. 
A

 s
tu

d
y 

in
 th

e 
U

S
A

 fo
un

d
 th

at
 c

ou
nt

ie
s 

w
ith

 
Tr

ip
le

 P
 h

ad
 fe

w
er

 s
ub

st
an

tia
te

d
 c

hi
ld

 a
b

us
e 

ca
se

s,
 in

ju
rie

s 
fr

om
 c

hi
ld

 a
b

us
e 

an
d

 o
ut

-o
f-

ho
m

e 
p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 th

an
 c

ou
nt

ie
s 

w
ith

 s
ta

nd
ar

d
 c

ar
e 

an
d

 
su

p
p

or
t a

fte
r 

tw
o 

ye
ar

s 
(P

rin
z 

et
 a

l.,
 2

00
9)

.

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 c
hi

ld
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 h
as

 a
ls

o 
b

ee
n 

fo
un

d
 (

eg
 B

od
en

m
an

n 
et

 a
l.,

 2
00

8)
. 

A
 2

01
1 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
of

 p
ar

en
tin

g
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
es

 
fo

r 
th

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f 

E
d

uc
at

io
n 

fo
un

d
 T

rip
e 

P
 to

 h
av

e 
th

e 
m

os
t b

en
efi

ts
 in

 r
ed

uc
in

g
 c

hi
ld

 
b

eh
av

io
ur

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

(L
in

d
sa

y 
&

 C
ul

le
n,

 2
01

1)
.

U
ni

t c
os

t i
s 

~
 

£1
,1

60

S
av

in
g

 is
 ~

 
£9

,2
88

 p
er

 
ch

ild
 w

ith
 

co
nd

uc
t 

d
is

or
d

er
 o

ve
r 

25
 y

ea
rs

 
(B

el
lis

 e
t a

l.,
 

20
12

)

In
cr

ed
ib

le
 Y

ea
rs

 
P

re
sc

ho
ol

w
w

w
.

in
cr

ed
ib

le
ye

ar
s.

co
m

/p
ro

g
ra

m
s/

p
ar

en
t/

p
re

sc
ho

ol
-b

as
ic

-
cu

rr
ic

ul
um

A
n 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

fo
r 

p
ar

en
ts

 w
ho

 a
re

 
co

nc
er

ne
d

 a
b

ou
t t

he
 

b
eh

av
io

ur
 o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 
ag

ed
 3

-6
 y

ea
rs

. P
ar

en
ts

 
le

ar
n 

st
ra

te
g

ie
s 

fo
r 

p
os

iti
ve

 in
te

ra
ct

io
n 

w
ith

 th
ei

r 
ch

ild
 a

nd
 fo

r 
d

is
co

ur
ag

in
g

 u
nw

an
te

d
 

b
eh

av
io

ur
. D

el
iv

er
y 

in
cl

ud
es

 v
id

eo
s,

 g
ro

up
 

d
is

cu
ss

io
n,

 p
ro

b
le

m
-

so
lv

in
g

 e
xe

rc
is

es
 a

nd
 

st
ru

ct
ur

ed
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

ac
tiv

iti
es

.

A
ny

 s
ui

ta
b

le
 

lo
ca

tio
n

18
-2

0 
x 

tw
o-

ho
ur

 s
es

si
on

s 
w

ee
kl

y

G
ro

up
 

se
ss

io
ns

  2 
x 

Fa
ci

lit
at

or
s 

(Q
C

F-
7/

8)

U
K

-b
as

ed
 R

C
Ts

 h
av

e 
fo

un
d

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 fo

r 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 p
ar

en
tin

g
 (

H
ut

ch
in

g
s 

et
 a

l.,
 2

00
7)

 a
nd

 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 c
hi

ld
 b

eh
av

io
ur

, i
nc

lu
d

in
g

 r
ed

uc
ed

 
an

tis
oc

ia
l b

eh
av

io
ur

 in
 a

d
ol

es
ce

nc
e 

(S
co

tt 
et

 a
l.,

 
20

14
).

U
ni

t c
os

t =
 

£5
00

–£
99

9

C
os

t e
ffe

ct
iv

e,
 

es
p

ec
ia

lly
 

w
he

n 
hi

g
h 

ris
k 

of
 d

ev
el

op
in

g
 

a 
co

nd
uc

t 
d

is
or

d
er

 
(E

d
w

ar
d

s 
et

 
al

., 
20

07

Page 28

www.triplep.net
http://www.triplep.net
www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum
www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/parent/preschool-basic-curriculum


25          Public health approaches to reducing violence

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

Fa
m

ily
 

Fo
un

d
at

io
ns

ht
tp

://
fa

m
fo

un
d

.
ne

t

A
 g

ro
up

-b
as

ed
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
co

up
le

s 
ex

p
ec

tin
g

 th
ei

r 
fir

st
 c

hi
ld

, 
ai

m
in

g
 to

 im
p

ro
ve

 th
e 

in
te

rp
ar

en
ta

l r
el

at
io

ns
hi

p.
 

D
ur

in
g

 p
re

g
na

nc
y,

 
p

ar
en

ts
 le

ar
n 

st
ra

te
g

ie
s 

fo
r 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n,

 
co

nfl
ic

t r
es

ol
ut

io
n,

 a
nd

 
sh

ar
in

g
 c

hi
ld

ca
re

 d
ut

ie
s.

 
A

fte
r 

b
ir

th
, t

he
 p

ar
en

ts
 

le
ar

n 
st

ra
te

g
ie

s 
fo

r 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
in

g
 e

ffe
ct

iv
el

y 
an

d
 s

up
p

or
tin

g
 th

e 
ch

ild
’s

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t.

 A
ny

 s
ui

ta
b

le
 

lo
ca

tio
n.

5 
x 

w
ee

kl
y 

se
ss

io
ns

 
d

ur
in

g
 

p
re

g
na

nc
y 

+
 4

 x
 w

ee
kl

y 
se

ss
io

ns
 2

-6
 

m
on

th
s 

af
te

r 
b

ir
th

.
G

ro
up

 
se

ss
io

n.

   M
or

e 
in

te
ns

iv
e 

le
ve

ls
 

g
en

er
al

ly
 

d
el

iv
er

ed
 

b
y 

he
al

th
 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
.

M
ul

tip
le

 s
tu

d
ie

s 
ha

ve
 fo

un
d

 p
os

iti
ve

 o
ut

co
m

es
  

fo
r 

p
ar

en
tin

g
 a

nd
 c

hi
ld

 w
el

lb
ei

ng
. A

 R
C

T 
co

nd
uc

te
d

 in
 th

e 
U

S
A

 fo
un

d
 e

vi
d

en
ce

 o
f 

re
d

uc
ed

 e
xt

er
na

lis
in

g
 p

ro
b

le
m

s 
an

d
 im

p
ro

ve
d

 
p

ro
so

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 a

m
on

g
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ho

se
 

p
ar

en
ts

 h
ad

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
ed

, 3
-7

 y
ea

rs
 a

fte
r 

th
e 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

(F
ei

nb
er

g
 e

t a
l.,

 2
01

4;
 F

ei
nb

er
g

  
et

 a
l.,

 2
01

0)
. 

U
ni

t c
os

t <
 

£1
00

.

E
m

p
ow

er
in

g
 

Pa
re

nt
s,

 
E

m
p

ow
er

in
g

 
C

om
m

un
iti

es

ht
tp

://
w

w
w

.c
p

cs
.

or
g

.u
k/

in
d

ex
.

p
hp

?p
ag

e=
 

em
p

ow
er

in
g

-
p

ar
en

ts
- 

em
p

ow
er

in
g

-
co

m
m

un
iti

es

G
ro

up
s 

of
 p

ar
en

ts
 fr

om
 

d
is

ad
va

nt
ag

ed
 fa

m
ili

es
, 

w
ho

 a
re

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
in

g
 

b
eh

av
io

ur
al

 d
iffi

cu
lti

es
 

w
ith

 a
 c

hi
ld

 a
g

ed
 2

-1
1 

ye
ar

s,
 le

ar
n 

st
ra

te
g

ie
s 

fo
r 

im
p

ro
vi

ng
 p

ar
en

t-
ch

ild
 

in
te

ra
ct

io
ns

, r
ed

uc
in

g
 

ne
g

at
iv

e 
b

eh
av

io
ur

, 
an

d
 im

p
ro

vi
ng

 th
ei

r 
p

ar
en

tin
g

 c
on

fid
en

ce
 a

nd
 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s.
 S

es
si

on
s 

in
vo

lv
e 

g
ro

up
 d

is
cu

ss
io

ns
, 

d
em

on
st

ra
tio

ns
, r

ol
e 

p
la

y 
an

d
 h

om
ew

or
k 

as
si

g
nm

en
ts

.

A
ny

 s
ui

ta
b

le
 

lo
ca

tio
n

8 
x 

tw
o-

ho
ur

 
se

ss
io

ns
.

G
ro

up
s 

of
  

12
 fa

m
ili

es
.

  2 
x 

Tr
ai

ne
d

 
fa

ci
lit

at
or

s 
(Q

C
F-

3)

A
 R

C
T 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 fo

un
d

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 fo

r 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 
p

ar
en

tin
g

 a
nd

 r
ed

uc
ed

 n
um

b
er

 a
nd

 s
ev

er
ity

  
of

 c
hi

ld
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

(D
ay

 e
t a

l.,
 2

01
2)

.

U
ni

t c
os

t <
 

£1
00

.

Page 29

http://famfound.net
http://famfound.net
http://famfound.net
http://famfound.net
www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
http://www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
http://www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
http://www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
http://www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
http://www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
http://www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities
http://www.cpcs.org.uk/index.php?page=empowering-parents-empowering-communities


26          Public health approaches to reducing violence

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

Th
e 

G
oo

d
 

B
eh

av
io

ur
 G

am
e

ht
tp

://
g

ui
d

eb
oo

k.
ei

f.o
rg

.u
k/

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e/
th

e-
g

oo
d

-b
eh

av
io

ur
-

g
am

e

A
 u

ni
ve

rs
al

 p
re

ve
nt

iv
e 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
p

rim
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

 s
tu

d
en

ts
, t

o 
en

co
ur

ag
e 

p
ro

so
ci

al
 

b
eh

av
io

ur
 a

nd
 r

ed
uc

e 
d

is
ru

p
tiv

e 
b

eh
av

io
ur

 in
 

th
e 

sh
or

t a
nd

 lo
ng

 te
rm

.

 A
t s

ch
oo

l

10
-4

5 
m

in
ut

es
 

x 
se

ve
ra

l 
tim

es
 p

er
 w

ee
k

G
ro

up
s 

 
of

 1
5-

30
 

st
ud

en
ts

.

Te
ac

he
r

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
re

d
uc

ed
 a

nt
is

oc
ia

l b
eh

av
io

ur
  

at
 1

4-
ye

ar
 fo

llo
w

 u
p

 (
K

el
la

m
 e

t a
l.,

 2
00

8)
.

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
re

d
uc

ed
 s

ui
ci

d
e 

id
ea

tio
n 

 
at

 1
4-

ye
ar

 fo
llo

w
 u

p
 (

K
el

la
m

 e
t a

l.,
 2

00
8)

.

 

U
ni

t c
os

t <
 

£1
00

.

In
cr

ed
ib

le
 Y

ea
rs

 
C

hi
ld

 T
ra

in
in

g
 

(D
in

os
au

r S
ch

oo
l)

ht
tp

://
w

w
w

.
in

cr
ed

ib
le

ye
ar

s.
co

m
/p

ro
g

ra
m

s/
ch

ild
/c

la
ss

ro
om

-
cu

rr
ic

ul
um

/

G
ro

up
-b

as
ed

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 

b
eh

av
io

ur
al

 d
iffi

cu
lti

es
 

ag
ed

 4
-8

 y
ea

rs
, t

ea
ch

in
g

 
se

lf-
re

g
ul

at
io

n 
an

d
 

p
ro

b
le

m
-s

ol
vi

ng
 s

ki
lls

 in
 

sm
al

l g
ro

up
s.

 P
ar

en
ts

 a
nd

 
te

ac
he

rs
 a

re
 re

cr
ui

te
d

 
to

 h
el

p
 re

in
fo

rc
e 

g
oo

d
 

b
eh

av
io

ur
.

A
ny

 s
ui

ta
b

le
 

lo
ca

tio
n.

18
-2

0 
x 

tw
o-

ho
ur

 s
es

si
on

s.

G
ro

up
s 

of
  

~
 6

 c
hi

ld
re

n.

  2 
x 

p
ra

ct
iti

on
er

s 
(Q

C
F-

6/
7/

8)
 

w
ith

 a
n 

ed
uc

at
io

n,
 

th
er

ap
y,

 
co

un
se

lli
ng

 o
r 

p
sy

ch
ol

og
y 

b
ac

kg
ro

un
d

.

R
C

Ts
 c

on
d

uc
te

d
 in

 th
e 

U
S

A
 h

av
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 

g
oo

d
 e

vi
d

en
ce

 o
f 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 c

hi
ld

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 

an
d

 s
oc

ia
l c

om
p

et
en

ce
 a

nd
 im

p
ro

ve
d

 p
ar

en
tin

g
 

(R
ei

d
 e

t a
l.,

 2
00

3;
 W

eb
st

er
-S

tr
at

to
n 

et
 a

l.,
 

20
04

).
 H

ow
ev

er
, a

 R
C

T 
in

 N
or

w
ay

 fo
un

d
 th

at
 

D
in

os
au

r 
S

ch
oo

l a
nd

 In
cr

ed
ib

le
 Y

ea
rs

 P
re

sc
ho

ol
 

in
te

rv
en

tio
ns

 (
se

e 
ab

ov
e)

 to
g

et
he

r 
ha

d
 n

o 
m

or
e 

ef
fe

ct
 o

n 
ch

ild
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 th
an

 In
cr

ed
ib

le
 Y

ea
rs

 
P

re
sc

ho
ol

 a
lo

ne
 (

La
rs

so
n 

et
 a

l.,
 2

00
9)

.

Th
er

e 
is

 a
 n

ee
d

 fo
r 

m
or

e 
re

ce
nt

 r
ig

or
ou

s 
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

fr
om

 a
 U

K
 c

on
te

xt
 a

nd
 r

el
at

in
g

 
d

ire
ct

ly
 to

 v
io

le
nc

e 
ou

tc
om

es
.

U
ni

t c
os

t =
 

£1
00

–£
49

9.

Page 30

http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/the-good-behaviour-game
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/the-good-behaviour-game
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/the-good-behaviour-game
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/the-good-behaviour-game
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/the-good-behaviour-game
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/the-good-behaviour-game
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/programme/the-good-behaviour-game
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/child/classroom-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/child/classroom-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/child/classroom-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/child/classroom-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/child/classroom-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/child/classroom-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/child/classroom-curriculum/


27          Public health approaches to reducing violence

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

In
cr

ed
ib

le
 

Ye
ar

s 
Te

ac
he

r 
C

la
ss

ro
om

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t

ht
tp

://
w

w
w

.
in

cr
ed

ib
le

ye
ar

s.
co

m
/p

ro
g

ra
m

s/
te

ac
he

r/
cl

as
sr

oo
m

-m
g

t-
cu

rr
ic

ul
um

/

U
ni

ve
rs

al
 c

la
ss

ro
om

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
te

ac
he

rs
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n 
ag

ed
 4

-8
 y

ea
rs

, a
im

in
g

 to
 

im
p

ro
ve

 te
ac

he
rs

’ a
b

ili
ty

 
to

 s
up

p
or

t c
hi

ld
re

n 
 

in
 d

ev
el

op
in

g
 th

ei
r 

 
so

ci
al

, e
m

ot
io

na
l a

nd
  

p
ro

b
le

m
-s

ol
vi

ng
 s

ki
lls

.

 A
ny

 s
ui

ta
b

le
 

lo
ca

tio
n.

6 
x 

fu
ll-

d
ay

 
se

ss
io

ns
 o

ve
r 

si
x 

m
on

th
s.

G
ro

up
 

se
ss

io
ns

.

  G
ro

up
 le

ad
er

 
(Q

C
F-

6)
 w

ith
 

an
 e

d
uc

at
io

n 
or

 p
sy

ch
ol

og
y 

b
ac

kg
ro

un
d

.

A
 r

ig
or

ou
s 

R
C

T 
in

 W
al

es
 fo

un
d

 e
vi

d
en

ce
  

of
 im

p
ro

ve
d

 c
hi

ld
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 (
H

ut
ch

in
g

s 
 

et
 a

l.,
 2

01
3)

.

 

U
ni

t c
os

t <
 

£1
00

.

P
ro

m
ot

in
g

 
A

lte
rn

at
iv

e 
Th

in
ki

ng
 

S
tra

te
g

ie
s 

(P
AT

H
S

)

w
w

w
.

p
at

hs
ed

uc
at

io
n.

co
.u

k

A
 s

oc
ia

l a
nd

 e
m

ot
io

na
l 

d
ev

el
op

m
en

t p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r p
rim

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
 

ch
ild

re
n.

 It
 a

im
s 

to
 

p
ro

m
ot

e 
em

ot
io

na
l a

nd
 

so
ci

al
 c

om
p

et
en

ci
es

 a
nd

 
re

d
uc

e 
ag

g
re

ss
io

n 
an

d
 

b
eh

av
io

ur
 p

ro
b

le
m

s.

      A
t s

ch
oo

l

10
-4

5 
m

in
ut

es
 

x 
se

ve
ra

l 
tim

es
  

p
er

 w
ee

k.

G
ro

up
s 

 
of

 1
5-

30
 

st
ud

en
ts

.

    Te
ac

he
r

E
vi

d
en

ce
 fr

om
 th

e 
U

K
 is

 m
ix

ed
 (

eg
 L

itt
le

 e
t a

l.,
 

20
12

; B
er

ry
 e

t a
l.,

 2
01

6)
, b

ut
 m

or
e 

ro
b

us
t  

R
C

Ts
 in

 th
e 

U
S

A
 h

av
e 

id
en

tifi
ed

 p
os

iti
ve

  
ou

tc
om

es
. I

n 
th

e 
U

S
A

, M
or

ris
 e

t a
l. 

(2
01

4)
 f

 
ou

nd
 th

at
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ho

 to
ok

 p
ar

t h
ad

 im
p

ro
ve

d
  

kn
ow

le
d

g
e 

an
d

 u
nd

er
st

an
d

in
g

 o
f 

em
ot

io
ns

, s
oc

ia
l 

p
ro

b
le

m
-s

ol
vi

ng
 s

ki
lls

, a
nd

 s
oc

ia
l b

eh
av

io
ur

s.

U
ni

t c
os

t <
 

£1
00

.

Page 31

http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/programs/teacher/classroom-mgt-curriculum/
www.pathseducation.co.uk
www.pathseducation.co.uk
www.pathseducation.co.uk
www.pathseducation.co.uk
www.pathseducation.co.uk
http://www.pathseducation.co.uk
http://www.pathseducation.co.uk
http://www.pathseducation.co.uk


28          Public health approaches to reducing violence

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

Le
t’s

 P
la

y 
in

 
Ta

nd
em

A
 s

ch
oo

l r
ea

d
in

es
s 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
ag

ed
 th

re
e 

ye
ar

s 
liv

in
g

 
in

 d
is

ad
va

nt
ag

ed
 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

, a
im

in
g

 
to

 im
p

ro
ve

 c
og

ni
tiv

e 
d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

nd
 s

el
f-

re
g

ul
at

io
n.

  A
t h

om
e.

W
ee

kl
y 

90
-1

20
-m

in
ut

e 
se

ss
io

ns
 o

ve
r 

12
 m

on
th

s.

 Tr
ai

ne
d

 
p

ro
je

ct
 w

or
ke

r 
(Q

C
F-

3)

A
 U

K
-b

as
ed

 R
C

T 
fo

un
d

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 fo

r 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 
p

er
so

na
l a

nd
 s

oc
ia

l s
ki

lls
 a

nd
 im

p
ro

ve
d

 
in

hi
b

ito
ry

 c
on

tr
ol

 (
Fo

rd
 e

t a
l.,

 2
00

9)
.  

E
vi

d
en

ce
 is

 la
ck

in
g

 fo
r 

im
p

ac
t o

n 
ag

g
re

ss
io

n 
 

or
 v

io
le

nc
e 

ov
er

 ti
m

e.

U
ni

t c
os

t =
 

£5
00

–£
99

9.

C
om

m
un

ity
 

In
iti

at
iv

e 
to

 
R

ed
uc

e 
 

V
io

le
nc

e 
 

(C
IR

V
)

M
ul

tid
is

ci
p

lin
ar

y 
in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
b

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

C
in

ci
nn

at
i I

ni
tia

tiv
e 

to
 

R
ed

uc
e 

Vi
ol

en
ce

 (s
ee

, 
E

ng
el

 e
t a

l.,
 2

01
3)

 a
nd

 
im

p
le

m
en

te
d

 in
 G

la
sg

ow
. 

E
ng

ag
es

 y
ou

th
 g

an
g

 
m

em
b

er
s 

to
 re

d
uc

e 
  

p
hy

si
ca

l v
io

le
nc

e 
an

d
 

w
ea

p
on

 p
os

se
ss

io
n,

 
of

fe
rin

g
 s

up
p

or
t, 

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
 o

p
p

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
in

 
ex

ch
an

g
e 

fo
r a

 ‘n
o 

vi
ol

en
ce

, n
o 

w
ea

p
on

’ 
p

le
d

g
e.

  A
t c

ou
rt

 o
r 

an
y 

su
ita

b
le

 
lo

ca
tio

n.

     
 

P
ol

ic
e 

an
d

 
so

ci
al

  
w

or
ke

rs

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
re

d
uc

tio
ns

 in
 m

os
t t

yp
es

 o
f 

 
vi

ol
en

t o
ffe

nc
es

, i
nc

lu
d

in
g

 p
hy

si
ca

l v
io

le
nc

e 
 

an
d

 w
ea

p
on

 p
os

se
ss

io
n,

 c
om

p
ar

ed
 to

 y
ou

th
s 

fr
om

 a
 s

im
ila

r 
ar

ea
 o

f 
G

la
sg

ow
 (

W
ill

ia
m

s 
et

 a
l.,

 
20

14
).

 C
au

tio
n 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
us

ed
 w

he
n 

in
fe

rr
in

g
 

ca
us

al
ity

.

N
o 

co
st

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
av

ai
la

b
le

.

Page 32



29          Public health approaches to reducing violence

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

Id
en

tifi
ca

tio
n 

an
d

 R
ef

er
ra

l t
o 

Im
p

ro
ve

 S
af

et
y 

(I
R

IS
)

ht
tp

://
w

w
w

.
iri

sd
om

es
tic

 
vi

ol
en

ce
.o

rg
.u

k/
iri

s/

A
n 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

to
 

im
p

ro
ve

 id
en

tifi
ca

tio
n 

an
d

 r
ef

er
ra

l o
f 

ca
se

s 
of

 d
om

es
tic

 v
io

le
nc

e 
w

ith
ou

t s
cr

ee
ni

ng
. I

t 
in

cl
ud

es
 a

 p
ra

ct
ic

e-
b

as
ed

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

fo
r 

p
rim

ar
y 

he
al

th
 c

ar
e 

st
af

f, 
a 

p
ro

m
p

t i
n 

th
e 

m
ed

ic
al

 
re

co
rd

 s
ys

te
m

 to
 a

sk
 

ab
ou

t a
b

us
e,

 a
nd

 
re

fe
rr

al
 p

at
hw

ay
s 

to
 

a 
d

om
es

tic
 v

io
le

nc
e 

ad
vo

ca
te

.

 In
 p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
.

In
 a

 R
C

T 
in

 H
ac

kn
ey

 (
Lo

nd
on

) 
an

d
 B

ris
to

l, 
 

IR
IS

 w
as

 fo
un

d
 to

 im
p

ro
ve

 id
en

tifi
ca

tio
n 

an
d

 
re

fe
rr

al
 o

f 
w

om
en

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
in

g
 a

b
us

e 
(F

ed
er

  
et

 a
l.,

 2
01

1)
. I

t i
s 

no
t c

le
ar

 w
he

th
er

 th
at

 
in

cr
ea

se
d

 id
en

tifi
ca

tio
n 

an
d

 r
ef

er
ra

l w
ill

  
le

ad
 to

 r
ed

uc
ed

 r
at

es
 o

f 
d

om
es

tic
 v

io
le

nc
e.

N
o 

co
st

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
av

ai
la

b
le

.

M
ul

tis
ys

te
m

ic
 

Th
er

ap
y

ht
tp

://
m

st
se

rv
ic

es
.c

om

A
n 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

fo
r h

ig
h-

ris
k 

11
-1

7-
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

an
d

 th
ei

r f
am

ili
es

 a
nd

 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
, t

o 
im

p
ro

ve
 

p
ar

en
tin

g
 s

ki
lls

 a
nd

 
sc

ho
ol

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t, 

an
d

 
to

 in
te

rv
en

e 
in

 d
el

in
q

ue
nt

 
p

ee
r a

ss
oc

ia
tio

n,
 w

ith
 

th
e 

ai
m

 o
f 

p
re

ve
nt

in
g

 
re

of
fe

nd
in

g
 a

nd
 o

ut
 

of
 h

om
e 

p
la

ce
m

en
ts

. 
In

vo
lv

es
 th

e 
us

e 
of

 
ev

id
en

ce
-b

as
ed

 
ap

p
ro

ac
he

s 
lik

e 
C

B
T.

 A
t h

om
e 

or
 in

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity

24
/7

 o
ve

r 
 

6-
9 

m
on

th
s.

  C
lin

ic
al

 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l 

w
ith

 s
p

ec
ia

lis
t 

tra
in

in
g

 in
 M

S
T.

O
ve

ra
ll,

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 fo

r 
M

S
T 

is
 s

om
ew

ha
t m

ix
ed

 
(L

itt
el

l e
t a

l.,
 2

00
5)

, b
ut

 s
om

e 
rig

or
ou

s 
st

ud
ie

s 
ha

ve
 fo

un
d

 p
os

iti
ve

 o
ut

co
m

es
 fo

r 
th

e 
re

d
uc

tio
n 

of
 v

io
le

nc
e 

an
d

 r
el

at
ed

 o
ut

co
m

es
. A

 U
K

-b
as

ed
 

R
C

T 
fo

un
d

 r
ed

uc
tio

ns
 in

 a
g

g
re

ss
io

n 
(B

ut
le

r 
et

 
al

., 
20

11
) 

an
d

 a
 2

0-
ye

ar
 fo

llo
w

-u
p

 to
 a

n 
R

C
T 

in
 

M
is

so
ur

i f
ou

nd
 th

at
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

w
as

 a
ss

oc
ia

te
d

 
w

ith
 v

ar
io

us
 p

os
iti

ve
 o

ut
co

m
es

 in
cl

ud
in

g
 r

ed
uc

ed
 

ar
re

st
 (

S
aw

ye
r 

&
 B

or
d

ui
n,

 2
01

1)
.

2,
28

5 
p

er
 

yo
un

g
 p

er
so

n.

R
O

I i
s 

~
£1

,2
22

 p
er

 
yo

un
g

 p
er

so
n 

af
te

r 
18

 
m

on
th

s 
 

(C
ar

y 
et

  
al

., 
20

13
).

Page 33

http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris
http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris/
http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris/
http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris/
http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris/
http://mstservices.com
http://mstservices.com
http://mstservices.com
http://mstservices.com


30          Public health approaches to reducing violence

M
o

d
e
l

C
o

n
te

n
t

L
o
g

is
ti

c
s

D
e
liv

e
re

d
  

b
y

D
e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

C
o

st
/R

O
I

S
ur

e 
S

ta
rt

 L
oc

al
 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

es
 

(S
S

LP
s)

W
or

ks
 w

ith
 fa

m
ili

es
/

ch
ild

re
n 

fr
om

 p
re

g
na

nc
y 

to
 a

g
e 

14
. F

or
 p

re
sc

ho
ol

 
ch

ild
re

n 
(u

p
 to

 a
g

e 
fiv

e)
 

an
d

 th
ei

r 
fa

m
ili

es
, S

ur
e 

S
ta

rt
 b

rin
g

s 
to

g
et

he
r 

ch
ild

 e
d

uc
at

io
n,

 c
hi

ld
 

ca
re

, h
ea

lth
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d

 fa
m

ily
 s

up
p

or
t 

w
ith

in
 d

ed
ic

at
ed

 
ch

ild
re

n’
s 

ce
nt

re
s.

   
 

In
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s.

A
 la

rg
e-

sc
al

e 
st

ud
y 

co
m

p
ar

in
g

 c
hi

ld
 o

ut
co

m
es

 
at

 a
g

e 
3 

ye
ar

s 
(M

el
hu

is
h 

et
 a

l.,
 2

00
8)

 fo
un

d
 

th
at

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
fr

om
 S

S
LP

 a
re

as
 h

ad
 b

et
te

r 
so

ci
al

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t, 
ha

d
 m

or
e 

p
os

iti
ve

 s
oc

ia
l 

b
eh

av
io

ur
, a

nd
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

ed
 le

ss
 n

eg
at

iv
e 

p
ar

en
tin

g
. I

m
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 in

 p
ar

en
tin

g
 w

er
e 

fo
un

d
 to

 c
on

tin
ue

 u
p

 to
 a

g
e 

5 
(T

he
 N

at
io

na
l 

E
va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 S

ur
e 

S
ta

rt
 (

N
E

S
S

) 
Te

am
, 2

01
0)

.

M
or

e 
re

se
ar

ch
 is

 n
ee

d
ed

 to
 e

va
lu

at
e 

th
e 

ef
fe

ct
 

of
 S

S
LP

s 
on

 v
io

le
nc

e,
 b

ut
 E

ar
ly

 H
ea

d
 S

ta
rt

 in
 

th
e 

U
S

A
 (

on
 w

hi
ch

 S
ur

e 
S

ta
rt

 is
 b

as
ed

) 
ha

s 
b

ee
n 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 lo

w
er

 le
ve

ls
 o

f 
ag

g
re

ss
iv

e 
b

eh
av

io
ur

 in
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d

 le
ss

 u
se

 o
f 

sp
an

ki
ng

 
in

 p
ar

en
ts

 (
Lo

ve
 e

t a
l.,

 2
00

5)
.

N
o 

co
st

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
av

ai
la

b
le

.

R
O

I –
 r

et
ur

n 
on

 in
ve

st
m

en
t

Page 34



31          Public health approaches to reducing violence

6.	Appendix:  
	 Review protocol  
	 and bibliography
Search strategy
Using the search terms below, we conducted a Google Scholar search combining each 
primary search term with each secondary search term and each tertiary search term (eg, 
‘public health approach’ + ‘violence’ + ‘reduction’, public health approach’ + ‘violence’ + 
‘prevention’). We looked at the first 30 articles for each combined search term, scanned 
abstracts for all potentially relevant, publicly available articles, and selected the most relevant 
articles for the bibliography. We also conducted a standard Google search to make sure key 
UK literature not found in journals was also included in the bibliography, and used a snowball 
approach to expand the bibliography where appropriate. 

We included articles published between 2007 and 2017 that focused on the UK, though 
evidence from before 2007 is sometimes also presented alongside more recent studies.

Primary  
search terms

Secondary  
search terms

Tertiary  
search terms

Public health approach

Public health

Epidemiological approach

Community empowerment

Violence

Domestic abuse

Domestic violence

Violence against  
women and girls

Family violence

Community violence

Neighbourhood violence

Reduction

Prevention

Tackling

Resilience

Page 35



32          Public health approaches to reducing violence

6.1 Bibliography
Bellis, M., Hughes, K., Perkins, C. and Bennett, A., 2012. ‘Protecting People, Promoting 
Health - A public health approach to violence prevention in England’. [online] Deparment of  
Health. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/216977/Violence-prevention.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Berry, V., Axford, N., Blower, S., Taylor, R.S., Edwards, R.T., Tobin, K., Jones, C. and Bywater, 
T., 2016. The effectiveness and micro-costing analysis of  a universal, school-based, social–
emotional learning programme in the UK: A cluster-randomised controlled trial. ‘School Mental 
Health, 8’(2), pp.238-256.

Boyle, A.A., Snelling, K., White, L., Ariel, B. and Ashelford, L., 2013. External validation of   
the Cardiff  model of  information sharing to reduce community violence: natural experiment.  
‘Emerg Med J, 30’(12), pp.1020-1023.

Bodenmann, G., Cina, A., Ledermann, T., & Sanders, M. R., 2008. The efficacy of  the Triple 
P-Positive Parenting Program in improving parenting and child behavior: A comparison with 
two other treatment conditions. Behaviour research and therapy, 46(4), 411-427.

Butler, S., Baruch, G., Hickey, N. and Fonagy, P., 2011. A Randomized Controlled Trial  
of  Multisystemic Therapy and a Statutory Therapeutic Intervention for Young Offenders.  
‘Journal of  the American Academy of  Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 50’(12), pp.1220-1235.e2.

Cary, M., Butler, S., Baruch, G., Hickey, N. and Byford, S., 2013. Economic Evaluation of  
Multisystemic Therapy for Young People at Risk for Continuing Criminal Activity in the UK.  
PLoS ONE, 8(4), p.e61070.

Conaglen, P. and Gallimore, A., 2014. Violence Prevention: A Public Health Priority. Edinburgh: 
ScotPHN. Available at https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Report-Violence-
Prevention-A-Public-Health-Priority-December-2014.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Day, C., Michelson, D., Thomson, S., Penney, C. and Draper, L., 2012. Innovations in Practice: 
Empowering Parents, Empowering Communities: A pilot evaluation of  a peer-led parenting 
programme. ‘Child and Adolescent Mental Health, 17(‘1), pp.52-57.

Dubowitz, H., Feigelman, S., Lane, W. and Kim, J., 2009. Pediatric primary care to  
help prevent child maltreatment: the Safe Environment for Every Kid (SEEK) Model.  
‘Pediatrics, 123’(3), pp.858-864. 

Duke NN, Pettingell SL, McMorris BJ, et al., 2010. Adolescent violence perpetration: association 
with multiple types of  adverse childhood experiences. ‘Pediatrics, 125’, pp.778-786.

Eckenrode, J., Campa, M., Luckey, D.W., Henderson, C.R., Cole, R., Kitzman, H., Anson, E., 
Sidora-Arcoleo, K., Powers, J. and Olds, D., 2010. Long-term effects of  prenatal and infancy 
nurse home visitation on the life course of  youths: 19-year follow-up of  a randomized trial. 
‘Archives of  pediatrics & adolescent medicine, 164’(1), pp.9-15.

Edwards, R.T., Céilleachair, A., Bywater, T., Hughes, D.A. and Hutchings, J., 2007. Parenting 
programme for parents of  children at risk of  developing conduct disorder: cost effectiveness 
analysis. ‘BMJ, 334’(7595), p.682. 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216977/Violence-prevention.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216977/Violence-prevention.pdf
https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Report-Violence-Prevention-A-Public-Health-Priority-December-2014.pdf
https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Report-Violence-Prevention-A-Public-Health-Priority-December-2014.pdf


33          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Engel, R., Tillyer, M. and Corsaro, N., 2013. Reducing Gang Violence Using Focused 
Deterrence: Evaluating the Cincinnati Initiative to Reduce Violence (CIRV). ‘Justice Quarterly, 
30’(3), pp.403-439.

Feder, G., Davies, R.A., Baird, K., Dunne, D., Eldridge, S., Griffiths, C., Gregory, A., Howell, A., 
Johnson, M., Ramsay, J. and Rutterford, C., 2011. Identification and Referral to Improve Safety 
(IRIS) of  women experiencing domestic violence with a primary care training and support 
programme: a cluster randomised controlled trial. ‘The Lancet, 378’(9805), pp.1788-1795. 

Feinberg, M.E., Jones, D.E., Kan, M.L. and Goslin, M.C., 2010. Effects of  family foundations  
on parents and children: 3.5 years after baseline. ‘Journal of  Family Psychology, 24’(5), p.532. 

Feinberg, M.E., Jones, D.E., Roettger, M.E., Solmeyer, A. and Hostetler, M.L., 2014. Long-
term follow-up of  a randomized trial of  family foundations: Effects on children’s emotional, 
behavioral, and school adjustment. ‘Journal of  Family Psychology, 28’(6), p.821. 

Florence, C., Shepherd, J., Brennan, I. and Simon, T., 2011. Effectiveness of  anonymised 
information sharing and use in health service, police, and local government partnership for 
preventing violence related injury: experimental study and time series analysis. ‘BMJ, 342’, 
p.d3313.

Ford, R.M., McDougall, S.J. and Evans, D., 2009. Parent-delivered compensatory education  
for children at risk of  educational failure: Improving the academic and self-regulatory skills  
of  a Sure Start preschool sample. ‘British journal of  psychology, 100’(4), pp.773-797.

Home Office, 2017. Police recorded crime and outcomes open data tables. Availbale at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/police-recorded-crime-open-data-tables  
[Accessed 30 Nov. 2017].

Hutchings, J., Bywater, T., Daley, D., Gardner, F., Whitaker, C., Jones, K., Eames, C. and 
Edwards, R.T., 2007. Parenting intervention in Sure Start services for children at risk of  
developing conduct disorder: pragmatic randomised controlled trial. ‘Bmj, 334’(7595), p.678. 

Hutchings, J., Martin-Forbes, P., Daley, D. and Williams, M., 2013. A randomized controlled trial 
of  the impact of  a teacher classroom management program on the classroom behavior of  
children with and without behavior problems. ‘Journal of  School Psychology, 51’(5), pp.571-585.

Kellam, S., Brown, C., Poduska, J., Ialongo, N., Wang, W., Toyinbo, P., Petras, H., Ford, C., 
Windham, A. and Wilcox, H., 2008. Effects of  a universal classroom behavior management 
program in first and second grades on young adult behavioral, psychiatric, and social 
outcomes. ‘Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 95’, pp.S5-S28.

Larsson, B., Fossum, S., Clifford, G., Drugli, M., Handegard, B., & Morch, W., 2009. Treatment 
of  oppositional defiant and conduct problems in young Norwegian children. European Child 
Adolescent Psychiatry, 18, 42-52. 

Lindsay, G. and Cullen, M.A., 2011. Evaluation of  the Parenting Early Intervention Programme: 
a short report to inform local commissioning processes (Research report DFE-RR121 (b)). 
Available at http://www.theministryofparenting.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/Evaluation-of-
the-Parenting-Early-Intervention-Programme.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/police-recorded-crime-open-data-tables
http://www.theministryofparenting.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/Evaluation-of-the-Parenting-Early-Intervention-Programme.pdf
http://www.theministryofparenting.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/Evaluation-of-the-Parenting-Early-Intervention-Programme.pdf


34          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Littell, J., 2005. Lessons from a systematic review of  effects of  multisystemic therapy. ‘Children 
and Youth Services Review, 27’(4), pp.445-463.

Little, M., Berry, V., Morpeth, L., Blower, S., Axford, N., Taylor, R., Bywater, T., Lehtonen, M. and 
Tobin, K., 2012. The impact of  three evidence-based programmes delivered in public systems 
in Birmingham, UK. ‘International Journal of  Conflict and Violence (IJCV), 6’(2), pp.260-272. 

Love, J., Kisker, E., Ross, C., Raikes, H., Constantine, J., Boller, K., Brooks-Gunn, J., Chazan-
Cohen, R., Tarullo, L., Brady-Smith, C., Fuligni, A., Schochet, P., Paulsell, D. and Vogel, C., 
2005. The Effectiveness of  Early Head Start for 3-Year-Old Children and Their Parents:  
Lessons for Policy and Programs. ‘Developmental Psychology, 41’(6), pp.885-901.

Mejdoubi, J., van den Heijkant, S.C., van Leerdam, F.J., Heymans, M.W., Hirasing, R.A.  
and Crijnen, A.A., 2013. Effect of  nurse home visits vs. usual care on reducing intimate  
partner violence in young high-risk pregnant women: a randomized controlled trial.  
‘PloS one, 8’(10), p.e78185.

Melhuish, E., Belsky, J., Leyland, A.H., Barnes, J. and National Evaluation of  Sure  
Start Research Team, 2008. Effects of  fully-established Sure Start Local Programmes  
on 3-year-old children and their families living in England: a quasi-experimental  
observational study. ‘The Lancet, 372’(9650), pp.1641-1647. 

Morris, P., Mattera, S.K., Castells, N., Bangser, M., Bierman, K. and Raver, C., 2014. Impact 
Findings from the Head Start CARES Demonstration: National Evaluation of  Three Approaches 
to Improving Preschoolers’ Social and Emotional Competence. 

The National Evaluation of  Sure Start (NESS) Team, 2010. The impact of  SureStart Local 
Programmes on five year olds and their families. [online] Department for Education. Available 
at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-impact-of-sure-start-local-programmes-on-
5-year-olds-and-their-families [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017]. 

Office for National Statistics, 2017. ‘Crime in England and Wales: year ending June 2017’. 
Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/
crimeinenglandandwales/june2017#police-recorded-offences-involving-weapons-continue-to-
rise [Accessed 30 Nov. 17].

Olds, D.L., Henderson, C.R., Chamberlin, R. and Tatelbaum, R., 1986. Preventing child abuse 
and neglect: a randomized trial of  nurse home visitation. ‘Pediatrics, 78’(1), pp.65-78. 

Prinz, R. J., Sanders, M. R., Shapiro, C. J., Whitaker, D. J., & Lutzker, J. R., 2009. Population-
based prevention of  child maltreatment: The U.S. Triple P system population trial. Prevention 
Science, 10(1), 1-12. doi:10.1007/s11121-009-0123-3 

Quigg, Z., Hughes, K. and Bellis, M.A., 2012. Data sharing for prevention: a case study in the 
development of  a comprehensive emergency department injury surveillance system and its 
use in preventing violence and alcohol-related harms. Injury Prevention, 18(5), pp.315-320.

Reid, M. J., Webster-Stratton, C., & Hammond, M., 2003. Follow-up of  children who received 
the Incredible Years intervention for oppositional defiant disorder: Maintenance and prediction 
of  2-year outcome. Behavior Therapy, 34, 471-491. 

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-impact-of-sure-start-local-programmes-on-5-year-olds-and-their-families
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-impact-of-sure-start-local-programmes-on-5-year-olds-and-their-families
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/june2017#police-recorded-offences-involving-weapons-continue-to-rise
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/june2017#police-recorded-offences-involving-weapons-continue-to-rise
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/june2017#police-recorded-offences-involving-weapons-continue-to-rise


35          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Sawyer, A. and Borduin, C., 2011. Effects of  multisystemic therapy through midlife: A 21.9-year 
follow-up to a randomized clinical trial with serious and violent juvenile offenders. ‘Journal of  
Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 79’(5), pp.643-652.

Scott, S., Briskman, J. and O’Connor, T.G., 2014. Early prevention of  antisocial personality: 
long-term follow-up of  two randomized controlled trials comparing indicated and selective 
approaches. American Journal of  Psychiatry, 171(6), pp.649-657.

Shepherd, J., 2007. Preventing alcohol-related violence: a public health approach. ‘Criminal 
Behaviour and Mental Health, 17’(4), pp.250-264.

Sivarajasingam, V., Farnell, D. J. J., Moore, S., and Shepherd, J.P., 2016. Violence in England 
and Wales in 2016: an accident and emergency perspective. ‘Violence and Society Research 
Group: Cardiff’.

Stuart, G., O’Farrell, T. and Temple, J., 2009. Review of  the Association Between Treatment for 
Substance Misuse and Reductions in Intimate Partner Violence. ‘Substance Use & Misuse, 
44’(9-10), pp.1298-1317.

Webster-Stratton, C., Reid, M. J., & Hammond, M., 2004. Treating children with early-onset 
conduct problems: intervention outcomes for parent, child, and teacher training. Journal of  
Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 33(1), 105-124. 

Whitfield CL, Anda RF, Dube SR, et al., 2003. Violent childhood experiences and the risk of  
intimate partner violence in adults: assessment in a large health maintenance organization. 
‘Journal of  Interpersonal Violence 18’, pp.166-85.

Williams, D., Currie, D., Linden, W. and Donnelly, P., 2014. Addressing gang-related violence in 
Glasgow: A preliminary pragmatic quasi-experimental evaluation of  the Community Initiative to 
Reduce Violence (CIRV). ‘Aggression and Violent Behavior, 19’(6), pp.686-691.

Wood, S., Bellis, M., Mathieson, J. and Foster, K., 2010a. ‘Child maltreatment: A review of evidence 
for prevention’. [online] UK focal point for violence and injury prevention. Available at: http://www.
cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/child-maltreatment.pdf [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Wood, S., Bellis, M., Mathieson, J. and Foster, K., 2010b. ‘Sexual violence: A review of   
evidence for prevention’. [online] UK focal point for violence and injury prevention.  
Available at: http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/sexual-violence-a-review-of-
evidence-for-prevention.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Wood, S., Bellis, M., Mathieson, J. and Foster, K., 2010c. ‘Self  harm and suicide: A review  
f  evidence for prevention’. [online] UK focal point for violence and injury prevention.  
Available at: http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/self-harm-and-suicide-a-
review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Wood, S., Bellis, M., Mathieson, J. and Foster, K., 2010d. ‘Intimate partner violence:  
A review of  evidence for prevention’. [online] UK focal point for violence and injury  
prevention. Available at: http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/intimate-partner-
violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Page 39

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/child-maltreatment.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/child-maltreatment.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/sexual-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/sexual-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/self-harm-and-suicide-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/self-harm-and-suicide-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/intimate-partner-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/intimate-partner-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf


36          Public health approaches to reducing violence

Wood, S., Bellis, M., Mathieson, J. and Foster, K., 2010e. ‘Elder abuse: A review of  evidence  
for prevention’. [online] UK focal point for violence and injury prevention.  
Available at: http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/elder-abuse-a-review-of-
evidence-for-prevention.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

Wood, S., Bellis, M., Mathieson, J. and Foster, K., 2010f. ‘Youth violence: A review of   
evidence for prevention’. [online] UK focal point for violence and injury prevention.  
Available at: http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/youth-violence-a-review-of-
evidence-for-prevention.pdf  [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

World Health Organization, 2002. World report on violence and health. [online] Available  
at: http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/  
[Accessed 15 Dec. 2017].

World Health Organization, 2012. Adverse Childhood Experiences International Questionnaire 
(ACE-IQ).

World Health Organization, 2014. Global status report on violence prevention 2014. Available 
at: http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/ [Accessed 15 
Dec. 2017].

World Health Organization, 2017. Violence Prevention Alliance: The public health approach. 
[online] Available at: http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/public_health/en/
[Accessed 24 Nov. 2017].

World Health Organization, 2017. ‘Violence Prevention Alliance: The ecological framework’. 
[online] Available at: http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/ecology/en/ [Accessed 
27 Nov. 2017].

World Health Organization, 2017. ‘Violence Prevention Alliance: Definition and typology of  
violence’. [online] Available at: http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/definition/en/ 
[Accessed 27 Nov. 2017].

World Health Organization, 2010. ‘Violence prevention: the evidence. Series of  briefings on 
violence prevention’. Available at: http://who.int/topics/violence/en [Accessed 24 Nov. 2017]

World Health Organization, 2015. ‘Global Status Report on Violence Prevention 2014’. [online] 
World Health Organization, United Nations Development Programme, United Nations Office 
on Drugs and Crime. Available at: http://www.who.int.revproxy.brown.edu/violence_injury_
prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/ [Accessed 15 Nov. 2017].

Page 40

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/elder-abuse-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/elder-abuse-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/youth-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/youth-violence-a-review-of-evidence-for-prevention.pdf
www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/
www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/public_health/en/
http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/ecology/en/
http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/definition/en/
http://who.int/topics/violence/en
http://www.who.int.revproxy.brown.edu/violence_injury_prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/
http://www.who.int.revproxy.brown.edu/violence_injury_prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/


37          Public health approaches to reducing violence
Page 41



Local Government Association 
18 Smith Square 
London SW1P 3HZ

Telephone 020 7664 3000 
Fax 020 7664 3030 
Email info@local.gov.uk 
www.local.gov.uk

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio,  
please contact us on 020 7664 3000. 
We consider requests on an individual basis. 
 
REF 15.32

© Local Government Association, June 2018

Page 42


	Agenda
	2 Allison Duggal (Deputy Director, Public Health, Kent County Council)
	LGA Public Health Approaches to Reducing Violence


